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Changes

Bath & Wells Dr Ian Burrow ha3s resigned as archaeological consultant
following his departure to teke up the post of Director
of the Oxford Archaenlogical Unit.

Oxford Tom Hassall has resignea as archaeoclegical consultant fblldwing
his appointment as Secretary of RCHME., His place is taken by
Or Ian Burrow,

Worcester Philip Barker has beern appointed a member or the DAC.

CBA Churches Dr Lawrencs Butler's term as Chairmzn of the ©BA Churches
Committes Committee will end in July 1986, This councludes a long career
o7 faithful service to the Committee which began in 1972 uwhen
the Committee was originall cra2ated. Or Butler's successor,
subject to the approval of the CBA Council in July, will be
Dr Richard Gem,

Events
A one=day symposium on the azubject of phofography and the recording of
buildings will be held in York on Saturday 14 June. Furthber information and
programmes ara obtainable from R Morris, Centre for Archaeological Studies,
University ot Leeds, Leeds L52 SJT.

The CBA's Working Party on Nonconformict Placss of Uorship and the Department
of Extra--Mural Studies at the University of SBristol are cocoperating in the
organization of a conference on noncorformist building, to be held in Bristol
over the uvsekend of 12-13 September 1987. Further details will appear in
British Archasolonical Neus.

INTRDBUCTION TU THE PARISH CHURCHES OF Derek Keens
MEDTEVAL WINCHESTER

Winchester was a city of many churches. In the 12th and 13th centuries it had
57, or more, churches which we may reascnably suppose were essentially
parcchial in function. This sets Winchester firmly in the same rank as those
other provincial cities which in the late 11th and early 12th centuries

ranked sacond after London in wealth and population. Thus Norwich had abcut
the same number of churches as Winchester, and York and Lincoln somewhat feuer.
London, with wzll over 100 churches, had twice as mamy. Exeter, with a figure
in the 20s, seems on all other evioance to have been ccrsespondingly smaller.
If Winchester's population at that time wss between 10,009 and 15,000, each
parish would have contained on average about 50 families, a figure which lster
medieval evidence suggests was typical for the mimute parishes in the cemtrs
of Londowk aind which, in London at awmy rate, may not have increcased much sipce
the 12th century.

Population and wealth in the early Middle Ages, rather than regionai variacion
in practice, are the explanation for these differences in parochial provision
in English towns, The picture is less clear, howaver, whan we attempt
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comparison with continental cities, Using the 'English argument', one
might understand why Paris, for example, had so many fewer parishes thar
London, for Paris was relatively insignificant before the 12th century.
Colngne is generally suoposed to have been about the same size as London

in the 12tn and 13tk centuries but had many fewer parishes with churches
which were more spacious, at least initially, than those in Englisn cities
seem to have besn., But here, too, the explanation may be in the relatively
garly growth of the major English towns. Clearly, tnere is much scooe for
more systematic comparisons on thaese lines.

Winchester's loss of wealth and peopulation from the 12th century on is
clearly reflected in its parish churches and, again, this acccrds with what
we know about the fortunes of Winchester by comparison with other touns.
Exeter, for example, hao lost four churches by 1300 ano is generally supposed
to have farod relatively wsll in the later Middle Ages. Winchester's loss
was disastrous. The family of 57 chutches had bzen reduced to 54 by 1300,

a time when sseveral churchaes were held in plurality as chapels dependent on
others., On the ave of the Black Death the number was 52 and had fallen to

33 by 1400, 26 by 1500, 15 oy 155G, and 12 by 1600. This total was reduced
by 4 during the Interrsgnum and, while this reduction was reversed at the
Restoration, only 9 Winchester churches survived the 17th century. Of these
six stand today, ir whole or in part, but only three of them are still in use
as places of worshin, To this total of surviving buildings we can add a
knowledge of half a dozen excavated structures. The documentary cvidence

is, therefcre, crucial for obtaining an overview cf the Winchester churches
in the days of their prosperity.

But written referesnces to Wiinchester churches are only numerous from the 12th
contury onwards. Orly in one instance is there clear documentary evidence

of the date and cortext of a parish church foundation: this was the church of
St Pecter founded by Asthelwine, reeve of Winchester, within a substantial High
Street property, which was probably his, shortly bafcre 1012. A less clear
instance cnncerns the church of St Martin in the Ditch, which was probably

the one dzdicated during the 830s by the bishop at the request of the citizens.
Our dependance on the materizl remains for the sarly history of Winchester
parish churches is demonstrated by the fact that in the cases of six out of
the 10 churches krown to have existed before the Norman Conguest our kncwledge
derives from the evidence of physical remains a2lone.

These figures give one some confidence in the argument from the fact of
parochial status: this states that any church in a city like Winchester which
was a parish church (almost all our 47 are explicitly known to have been so)

is likely to have come into existencz by the early years of the 12th century,
since by tnen canmon law was being administered with an increasing effectivaness
and care for the rights and incomes of parish churcnes. Intruders into such

a parochial system could not be tolerated and the proliferation of churches

to serve growing urban populations, characteristic of English touwns in the 1Cth
and 17th centuries, therafore ceased. Urpan populations which came into oecing
after about 1100 were served by sinaller numbers of churches per head, as was
clearly the case with such towns as Bristol, Northamptor, and New Salisbury.

There can ba little doubt that, in spite cf certain limitations on their
rights, the Winchester churches were essentially parochial, serving defined
communities of citizens who presumably contributed to the upkeep of their
fabric and clergy by means of tithes and offecings. In most sources they are



describad as churchaes (ecclesie) rather than chapels (capells). Tuwo
exceptions to this, howcver, throw soms light on their standing. In an
episcopal list of churches of about 1270, the only scclesie in the deanary

of Winchester were at 'a handful of villages well beynsnd the confines of tne
city and suburbs, which were served 'by capelle. A list of the bishop's
churches in the city and suburbs compilaed in 1284 describes them all as
chapels, with three or more probably five exceptions described as churches.
These exceptions (St Giles, St Mary in the Vala, St James, and probably

St Anastasius and St Faith) a2ll lay in the suburbs and they include the only
churches known to have had cemeteries befoce about 1400. Not all suburban
churches hao cemeteries before this dats: .the only ones which did lay

outside the suburban limit as it appears to have been defined in the T0th
cantury., The example of St Anastasius reveals this very well: its early
cematery is documented by both excavations and the writcen record; it lay
Just outside the diteh defining the western suburb, within which it came ‘to°
be incorporated about 1100 when the ditch was redug and realigned. It szems’
thac churches within the city as originally so defined had no right of burial,
which wss reserved to the cathedral and probably alsoy, to a more limited 7
extent, to Hyda Abbey (New Minster) and St Mary's Apbey (Nunnaminster)., THas
burial rights of New Minster, whosa cemstery occupied much of the arsa later
occupied by the cathedral cemetery, are specifically mentioned in the records
of the move to Hyde in 1110, ana St Mary's Abbey appears to have bBoen quite
extensively used for burial.” But tho remains of most Winchester citizens
throughout the Middle Ages werc leaid to rest in ths common cometery by the
cathedral. According to a documeht of 1331 the cathedral pridry claimea

the mortuary payments at all chucches in the city and suburbs and the burial
rights at thz cemetsrics of St Giles, St James, and St Anastasius,

In discussion follouing this paper, the possibility was raised that the
Winchester parish churches may originally have anjoyad burial rights which
were supprassed in favour of ths cathedral priory, perhaps in the 12th
century. The archacologiceal evidence, admittedly a small samplc, dods not
support this argument, Furthermore, had such a suppression tzken place, 1t
is likely that it would also have affscted the outlying cemetocrios, such as
that of St Anastasius, which in the 12th century was certainly rogardec as
lying within tho city. In the late 7th or early B8th century one or two small®
burial grounds within thz walls and well away from the cathedral precinet did
go cut of uss and it was probably only at this period, shortly after the _
foundation of the mothar church of Winchaster, that its rights wers asserted
“in this way, o ‘

Thers wore other restrictions on the parochial rights of the churches.
Archazological evidences suggests that forts, and so the baptismal rights wnich
went with them, wers not acquirod until the late 12th or e@arly 13th centuiv.
As late as the 1340s the parishionars of St Peter in Colebrook Streeot were
attempting tu create a baptistry at theii church. This was probably a special
case, howsvzr, for St Peter's was within the precinct of St Mary's Abbey,
which was thus able to koep a closs aye on any tnroatzned erosion of its
rights. Another restriction was the cathedral priory's rights of staticn at
certain suburban churches and its right to the custody of the keys and all
offarings on the paironal deys of those churches, hoth mentionzd in the
document of 1331, Those rights may have been kept up principally for
financial reasons but they show that the stational liturgy, unifying the
mother church with the outlying churches of the city, which had been so
important in the 10th and 12th centuries, still had soms vigour in the later
Middle Ages. The churches in question were thoss of St Giles (wherc the
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offering box filled by marchants attending the fair would have been well

worth having), St Cathorine (to which processions were certainly made ),

st Jomes (which had been the destination of the early madievael Palm Sunday
procession), and St Faith., The crosses in the suburban stroots of Winchester
probably marked intermediate stages in these processicns and the city cross in
High Street may have fulfilled the same role. Sevoral lanes, both within and
without the walls, were described as processional ways, denoting their
habitual use for thess liturgical purposes.

It will already be apparent that the parochial rights of thc Winchester
churches underwent some svolution during the Middle Ages. This is of more

than legal interest, since it seems to reflect tho increasing importance of

the role of the local church and the parochisl community in the life of the
City, perhaps by comparison with the part once played by the great monastic
churches. This is manifsest in a varisty of ways. In the 13th and 14th
centuries, for oxample, it is rare to find locslities in Winchester designated
according to the parish in which they lay. In the 15th century, houwsver, this
was common practice. In London; by contrast, parochial designations are usad
from the 12th century onuwards. After the Black Death, burial in parish churches
or their cemeteries became more widespread. At St Pancras therz is a reference
in ths 1360s to the dead being. carried to the church. Burial within that
church besgan at about that time and between then and its closure in the 1520s
just over 20 burials were made within the church. The adjacent church of

St Mary, closed at about the same time, contained a single burial in its

latast phase. As more space became aveilabls, as a result of depopulation,

so churches acgquired cemoteries. About 1300 the church of 5t Patroc was

hemmed in by houses but when the derelict church came to be revived in the
parly 15th century it was providsd with a cemetery surrounding it on all sidss.
In the eastern suburb the parishioners of St John and St Peter habitually

used the ancient cemetery of St Giles and it seems only to have been at the
very end of the Middle Ages or in the post-medieval period that St John's
acquired the burial ground which now surrounds it.

A reduced demand for living space also meant that there was more room for the
church enlargements which were a feature of 15th century Winchester. Land
prices may have fallen but building costs had gone up, and it seems unlikely
that the resources of the 15th century parishes were any greater than those of
their predecessors. Ironically, this was the very time when the citizens

were seeking to reduce their fiscal obligation to the crown by arquing that
the loss of churches demonstrated their poverty, They seem to have been
prapared, however, to devote a larger slice of the available cake to those
churches which survived. St Mary Tannar Street, for example, was successively
enlarged until what would appear to have been virtually the eve of its closure.
A western tower was added to St Lawrence and a prime slice of property on

the High Street frontage was taken for the new chancel of St Mary Kalendar,
These churches housed congregations which were probably no larger than before
but simply provided a more imposing sstting for the parishioners in both life
and death, A similar development, and the increasing cohesion of the
parochial community, are suggested by the new internzl arrangements which
appeared in St Mary Tanner Street at this time. These changes prompt a
question about the enlargement of the Winchester churches in the 12th and

13th centuries: was this coused simply by an incresse in the size of the
congregation, especially, perhaps, as churches passed from a more private

to 2 more public use, or were other considerations equally or sven more
important? These might include, for example, the desire to increase the
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number of altars and so create the setting necesszary for the agrowing quantlty
of prayers and masses on behalf of souls in purgatory.

A change in mentslities during the latsr Middle Ages is also apparent in the
citizens' attitudes to church closure. In the late 14th century this appears
to have been a pragmatic one and the bishop intervened in an attempt to
prevent the conversion of redundant churchss to secular usses. This contrasts
with the citizens' conservative resistzance in the 16th century to the bishop's
initiative in promoting the closure of churches with the intent of increasing
the aincomes of incumbsnts,

Clesure inveclved the union of parishes but this was not siways a straight-
forward process. Livings wzre orten held in plurality for a long time before
amalgamation took place. But the unions which ceme sbout were not always
those uhich might be expected from the preceding pattern of plurality. A
rather different, but still complex, =ase concerns the church of 5t Petroc.
During che later 14th century both this and thea nearby church of St Martin
on the Wall went out of uss and their parishes were amalgamatasd with that of
St Alphege in the still populous area nsar High Street. The site of 5t
Alpheys, how=ver, was small and offersd little scope For sxpansion.
Conseguently, egarly in the 15th century the church of St Petroc, itself in a
sparsely populataed area, was restored and brought back into use to succeed
St Alphege. In this example an important part may have been playecd by an
exceptionally wealthy citizen who lived very close tc St Petroc's church.

During the later Middle Ages, theretore, the pattern of parish bcundaries in
Winchester was in a state of constant flux. Changes did not only accompany
unions of parishes. Thare are ssveral cases where the site of a derelict
house in one parishy, having be«n cleared, was incorporatesd into the garden of
a house in the next parish, and so itself shifted frum cne parish to the next.
This helps us identify the underlying principle vhich determined the extent of
parishes in the city. Farishss did rot reflect ancient patierns of land
ownership but rather clusters of houscholds and they were coterminous with the
sites that tihese households happened to occupy. UWhether a house bslonged to
one parish or another wss datermined by the distance Trom its front door to
the door of the church, 2 doctrine which has explicit recognition in London
from the 13th century onwards. The method of tithe assessment is ons of the
underlying reasons why the parish boundaries were established in this way, for
tithes in touwns were essentially parsonal payments, paid as a proportion of the
rental value of each household and as a charge on wages or commercial profit.

This does not mean that Winchester parish boundariss did not scmatimes follow
ancient topographical features, such as the west wall of the 11th-=-12th
century royal palace, but this was because of the continuing significance cf
such features as barriers to movement, ratner than as the boundaries of
ancient units of land ounsrship. Parishses and their formation can thus give
us an insight into the patterns of local communication within tha city.

iz cannot, however, use the evidence of the parish voundaries in Winchester

to suggest successive stages in ths foundation of churches and the formstion
of their parishas as is sometimes possible for towns with a simpler parochial
structurs. There is no clear indicaticn that any one of the parish churches
occupied a superior position in relation to the others. 0One church, houwsver,
that of St Mary Kalendar, whose prominent site in High Street is now cccupied
by Woolworths, deces seem to have had a special place among the parish churches,
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It was one of the four churches known only ever to have besn in the patronage
of the bishop, and the only one known to have been in his patronage in the 13th
centuty, which had not previously belonged to the cathedrsl priory. In the
later Middle Ages, thes bishop was escorted from there to the cathedral for his
installation cersmony. The fraternity of Kalendars associated with the church
used as their seal a recent episcopal seal of the mid-12th century or earlier.
The fraternity included parish priests from other parishes and was pechaps
descended from or equivalent to the guilds of priests and deacons which had
existed in the pre-Conquest city. The close assocation with the bishop makes
it tempting to suggest that at some time the bishop had acted to promote

the cohesion and standing of the parochial clergy of the city and that the
church of 5t Mary Kalendar may have been the focus of this action. An
episcopal initiative may =sven lie behind the origin of the church. Such an
initiative is perhaps must likely to have taken place at a time when the
parochial system in the city was being established or regularcized. In this
connection it is worth remembering that B8ishop Henry of Blois (d 1171) uwas
active in regularizing parochial matters in the rural parts of Winchester
ciocese and that according to a garbled 19th centurv record he also made
parochial adjustments in the city,; around the year 1150. UWhether or not the
church oi 5t Mary Kalendar acquired its special position at that time will
remain a matter for speculation but sucn speculations would have been more
infcrmed had we any knowledge of the physical layout of the church and ite
surroundingse.

By ths late 13th century it is clear that tha Winchester churches wsre in the
patronage of the reigious houses of the citv and the shire, and in that of

the bishop and the two archdsacons (who seem to have had one each). The
bishop had recently made a successful claim to ths cathedral priory churches,
which made up the bulk of his portfolio, but otherwise this picture had
probably changed little since the later 12th century. We can only guess as to
the way in which most of these churches were scquired, Some were probabiy
outright gifts, such as the two suburban churches which shortly before 1192,
when they werz in the possession of a priest, the archdeacon gave to the
priory of 5t Denis near Southampton. Others wers probably acquired as part

of the property with which they were associasted, as was the cese with the
church of 5t Peter founded by the reeve Aethelwine which passed to the
Cathedral priory with the 'Godbegot! property of which it formed part.

Others may have remained to, or been claimed by the religious houses, as

lords of the land on which they stood. The case of the Hyde Abbey churches

on the abbey's fief within the North Gate of the city suggests that this
process took place during the 12th century, for there is good reason to believe
that the abbey had no land there befors the move to Hyde. Few of the churches
are likely to have besn founded by the religious houses themselves but these
houses came to be seen as appropriate patrons for them. One exception is

the single church belonging to Wherwell Abbey {St Martin in Parchment Street),
which was close to the abbess’s town house and may have originated as her
private chapel.

Clearly, it is impossible to be certain of the circumstances in which most of
these churches were founded but some suggestions can be made on the basis of
the siting of the churches and other svidence. This approach suggests several
possible categories of foundaticns. In the first are the private house
chapels, such as the churches of the reeve Aethelwinz or of the zbbess of
Wherwell., The topographical satting of several other churches in the city
suggest a similar private origin. In a second category are possible



reighbourhood or community foundations., Two churches in the 13th century .
had guildhalls close by. them, but we do not even know the nature of the
relationship betwsen the churches and the guildhalls at this time, let alone
any earlier date. Other circumstances which suggest community foundations
are the citizens' request which led to the dedication of the church outside
West Gate in the 930s, and the location of St Ruzld's church on a projecting
site at a busy cocner in a marmner whicn suggests thet it was =z public rather
than s private foundation and possibly an encroachment onto the streest.

Another category comprises the gateway or thresheld churches, of whizh there
were four on or close to the city gates. The anxiety and senss of gratitude
associated, respsctively, with the beginning and the ending of journeys
provides adeqguate explanation as to why such churczhes should be widespread.
It would also be appropriate to make the point of trancition from one
spatial zore to another by a focus for devotion. In addition, the upper
chambers of public gate structures would provide ready accommodation for a
church serving 2 parish of househclds within and uichout the gate. Tt is
possible that scme of the churches at the suburban limits originated in
response to similar stimuli, although they may also originally have servea
smzll detached hamlets which came to be incorporated into the city.

The sives of several parish churches, both within and without the walls,
were coincident with or adjacent to sarlier cemeteries of late Roman and

6th to early 8th century date., It i3 possible that some of them owe thair
origin to the continuing religious significance of ths site. In the suburhs
of a citv of Roman origin like Winchester, however, the chances are high
that sucih coincidences are mo more than that,

At least one, and possibly thres or four, parish churches were ovriginally
within the monastic precincts and so may well have bsgun as oratories
subordinate to and ssrved from the great churcn befora they acquired a wider
parochiali furcticn. The clearest cese is that of St Peter in Colebrook
Ctreet within the precinct of the nuins' minster but ths churches of both

5t Lawrence and 5t Maurice sppear to nave adjoinsed important points of entry
into the New Mins*ur precinct or the later precinct of the royal palace, and
St Maurice's at least is knouwn to have been ong of the family of lesser
churches clustered around New Minster. St Swithun's over Kings Gate, al an
important entry into the .royal and monastic precinct, may be considered

as g possible member of the same category.

The distribution of parish churches within ths built up arsa as a whole
broadly coincides with that of the population. The concentration of churches
in High Street, for example, is clear. Yet some areas which were populous
in the 12th century ssem relatively underprovided with churches. An example
is the nurth-=west quarter of the city, apparently populous but poor in the
12th century., The provision of churches may thus have been conditioned by
local wealth as well as by numbers of people. On the other hand, such arsas
may have become populous conly after the proliferation of churches ceased.
This certainly seems to be the cese in the sast suburb, which had only tuwo
churches but probably acquired its large population during the 12th century
with the grouwth of international *rade at St Giles's Fair con the hill above
the suburb, Of these two churches, 5t John's in particular profited from
this developmant snd became one of thz largast and the best endowed in the
clity.
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A special topographical group wsre the hilltap churches in the suburbs,
Whatever the origin of individual churches, it seems likely that by the 12th
century they had acguirerd a special significence as @ group. FEach was visible
from the others and travellers approaching the city would have seen them

from a distance, Each of them played a part in the city's processionzsl
liturgy, As a group they perhoaps came to define the limits of the space which
was winchester and to axpress the unity of the margins of the settlement with
its centre.

Finally, I turn to dedications. The methodological cifficulties here are
comparable to those concerning origins and siting for, in default of explicit
evidence, we are attempting to explore the intentions and attitudes of groups
of people in the city (and we are not very sure which groups) through a series
of patterns which we think we c2n detect in nomenclature and topography. The
dangers of this are obvious. Even so, the evidence of dedications can be
used to throw some light on the cultural identity of the city. In this
respect the outlying suburban churches just mentioned have a special signif--
icance. All had decdicaticns svoking the pilgrimages which assumad a major
role in European culture t'rom the 11th century onwardss these were Giles,
James, and Cetherine. The last, appropriately, had the most mountainoue
setting of =211 the Winchester hiiltop churches. COther outlying churches seem
to ram the message home: there was St Faith at the limit of the south suburb
and, & little further out along the road to Souchampton and overseas, the
Hospital of St Cross, founded by the hospitallers and adopted by the bishop,
The church of St Anastasius in the west suburb may be in the same category
for, rather than Anastasia or one oF the numerous Anastasiuses, it may well
have commamorated the Resurrsction (zrizstssis) in a verbal form appropriate
for those whose minds turned on Jeruszlem; it was suitable for a suburb which
played a major part in the liturgical celebration of Easter,

Another group of dadications reveals Winchester's position as the chief city

of Wessex: these were Swithun, Alphege, Boniface, and possibly Petroc, although
in the case of Petroc the determining association may have been the display

of the saint's relics in the city in 1177,

Absent from the dedications; by comparison with lLondon for example, is any
clzar Scandinavian association. A possible excepticn is the church of

5t Clement, but in this particular irnstance the maritime aspscts of the
saint's cult may be the impurtasnt ones for the churcih was in the fish marketing
area of the city. Close by was a church of S% Nicholas, s dedication commonly
assoclated with sea faring and the fish trade. There was a more distinct
functional grouping of dedications connected witn the butchers. 'Martinsbeef!
presumably slaughtersd around 11 November, was a well-known Winchestar
commodity, and there were clusters of Martin's churches near the shambles in
High Street and in the suburb outside West Gate, an important area for cattle
tradinc. : ‘

Other groupings are also apparent. There is no obvious exnlanation for the
Michaels around Jewry Strest and 3t Peter Street within North Gate, The
group of Johns in the north-sast part of the walled city, in the shadow of
the suburban church of St John on the eastern hill, may have had some
connection with Midsummer festivities.
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Last of alil, two dedications may reveal a conscious attempt to associate

the city of the kings of Wessex with the splendours of the Ottconian or later
Reich. These were Lawrence and Maurice. Maurice's companions of the Theban
legion are only occasionally apparent in Winchester. Incdividually, or outside
the specific context in which they occur in Winchester, these dedications may
not mean very much but, as we have seen, sach of these two churches was
closely asscciated with a2 point of entry into the precinct of the New Minster
or that part of the royal palacs precinct whicn was taken over from New
Minster. Lawrence ceme to he a common dedication for imperial churches
following Otto the Great's victory over the Magysis on that saint's day ir
955. In thal battls Otto was carrying St Maurice's lance. which continued o
be an important item in the imperial regatia throughout the Middle Ages.

The emperor had a lifelong devotion to St Maurice. The imperial city ot
Maodeburg, for example, hcuses the major abbey of St Maurice, founded by Otto
in 937 and later chosen by him, in preferance o existing sses, as the 'home'
for the archbishopric to spearhesd the mission against the Slavs, The cass
for arguing that the two Winchester dedications proclaim an impsrial theme
thus looks very strong., Ue must bewsre of pressing ctoo precise an association
however, for, while the church dedicated to St Maurice is known to have
existed by the 11th century, the church of St Lawrence is not recorded
(although it may well have existed) before the 12th.

The stiudy of %he winchester parish churches, then, is not only of intrinsic
intsrest for it can offer insights (admittedly, often tentative aind
hypothetical) into the city's demographic and sconomic fortunes, its

regional and cultural identitv, and the sogcial organization and attitudes

of its imnabitants, The materizal remains of the churches make a contribution
towards ar understanding of most of these topics. For some subjects they

are an essential source and for others, particularly concerning the early
stages of the city's development, they are the only evidence available, How
to exploit that eviderce is a subject for detailec consideration in its own
right.,

(Editor's rote: this paper arises oul of the annual meeting of the Urban
Churches Working Party, held in Winchester in October 1985)

POST-MEDIEVAL BURIAL VAULTS: Julian W S Litten
THEIR CONSTRUCTION AND CONTENTS
(Figures 1~7 and covar illustration)

The three ecclesiastical 'Rs! (Reordering, Restoration, and Redundancy) have
opened new chapters for the archaeologist, and the present trend of archazolopy
in churches in uss, together with tne ircreasing involvement of diccesan
archasoloyical advisers at DAC level in the mattar of reordering and
rescvoration schemes, is to be welcomed., In addition, our knowledge is being
constantly expanded dues to the opportunities afforded by full-scale excavation
on redundant churches destined for alternative use or evantual demclition.

Une of the more unusual features encountered during such work sre burial
vaults and brick-lined shaft burials, As ihe majority of these structurss
are post-medieval (1), they have often been dismiseed as 'nasty modern
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disturbances' and have not, therefore, received the attention they dsserve.
With the recent emergence of funerary studies it is painful to reflect on
the quantity of valuable comparative material that has been denied post—
excavation publication.

The burisl vault as a purpose-built subterranean chamber for the reception of
the remains of the members of a family unit gsined respectability during the
thnird and fourth guarters of the 16th century, increaced in popularity during
the 17th century, and meintained this position until ¢ 1680/90 when the brick-
lined shaft became vogue. Although intermural burial ceased between 1850, 60
(2) (there remain excepticns, such as the monarchial interments at St George's
Chapel, Windsor and the Westminster cardinals), the practice continuss, where
space permits, in privete vaults constructed prior to the orficiel closures.

But what have these recent funerary studies produced to assist us and why do
some regard burial vaults and their contents of such importance? Could it
nct he araued that the vault is more the territory of the historian and
antiquarian than the archaeologist?

The collation of information contained in extaint reports of vault examinations
(3) and the few remaining contemporary publicaticns and pattern boocks on
coffin furniture (4) provide a fairly sccurate picture of the type and
content of burial vaults of particular periods. The earlier vaults tend to
be stone and brick constructicns with purpose-built entrance steps and stone-
flagged floors (5), whereas the later ones are ususlly of brick, often
internally whitcwashed and with a brick or unglazed tile floor, with a
distinct entrsnce via one of the side alevations (usually the east or west)
coming into view once the topscil has neen loosened. Tha brick=lined chaft
is easily sccessibles cne simply lifts the ledger stonme. Be tnat as it may,
the ledger is not the preserves of the brick-lined shaft for it is sometimes
used as a floosr-marker for a vault per se.

Tt would be misleading to say that vaults of particular periods will be
structurailv identical: required size, avaeilability of building materials,
and siie restrictions all play their part and rarely will one meet two
examples the same. Neverthsless. there are distinct building patterns: *the
late 16th centiry vaults have vertical walls to sll elevations with a gently
curving roof. somewhat 'flattencd' Perpendicular style (8), early 17th '
century vaults are similar except the roof tends to be flat (7), mid=17th
century ones differ in having a slightly barrelled roof (8) whereas those

of the 18th century are of the railway-tunnel type whose east and west walls
are vertical, with low north and south wslls from which springs the barrel-
vaulted roof (9). with the advart of the 15th century we return to the
expensive early 17th century model. Shelving is rarely met with, usually
limiced to the large vaults of noble families (10), though by the beginning
of the 19th century it becesme a standard feature,; regarcdless of the
occupants' social status (11). It should be rememberad that strict
observance was paid to the traditional E-W alignment of the corpse: one

only has toc refer to an serial photograph of recent excavations at 5t
Augustine's, Bristol, for evidence of that,

The brick-lined shaft was a popular mode of intermural burial within the

town churches during the 18th century and arose as a matter of double
@conomy. First, there was the economy of space - there was 2 hesavy demand
from the middle classes for intermural burial dus to the appalling conditions
created by overcrowding in many town churchyards - and, secondly, an economy



Figure 1

Figure 2

[above] Lydiard Tregoze,
St John Vault: the entrance
to the 1616 St John vault
to the SE of the chancel
steps (Photo Fr Timothy
Boniwell)

[right] St Augustine,
Bristol: an aerial
photograph taken during
excavations of the site in
1984 showing the E-W
alignment of numerous

18th century brick-lined
shafts (Photo Eric J Boore)




Figure 3

Five hundred years of undertaking: looking down into
an early 19th century vault extension containing
coffins (clockwise, from top right) of the 18th
century, 19th century, 16th century, 17th century,
and 20th century (Photo Hazel Stickings)

figure 4 Kedington, Barnardiston Vault: a photograph of 1918
showing three infants' anthropomorphic coffins and
two examples of 18th century decorative lead work
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of space within a building already oversubscribed by the corpses of
previous generations. As it was, the middle classses were adopting = more
nomadic lifestyle as the century procressed and few saw much point in
expending huge sums of money on faculties, fess, and bricklayers for large
vaults if one could not guarantee that one's progeny were prepared to
maintain a paiticular place of corporate family sepulture.

Cur knowledge of coffin types and coffin furniture has heen greatly increased
in the last decade as a rssult of the involvement of historians and archzeo=-
logists in the systematic clearance of two exceptionally large and import-nt
parcchial vaults in London (12) a&s well as through various opportunities for
vault examination elsewhere in the sountry extended by the Council for the
Care of Churches and other conscienticus institutions and incumbents, There
anpsar to be no distinct regicnal trends as regards undertaking techniques,
and gable-lidded coffins, for example, are no more restricted to any one
area of the country than anthropomocphic ones might be. The 'Lancashire'
coffin is an introduction of the 18th century, as is the rarver 'fisi tail!
(13}, and the myth of leather-covered outer shells should be quashec before
it has time to become sstablished. The earlier veults will not necessarily
contain extant examples of early coffins, for the majority of the 16tn
century and 17th century vaults had their own charnel pits or cisterns into
which were pericdically deposited the more decayed shells and bones to make
room for others within the main body of the vault (14).

Coffins of the period 1550-1650 tend to be of thrse basic typess anthropo=-
morphic, rectangular, and single-bresk. The anthropocmorphic shell survived
until 1660,/703 of lead, it has a lower 'tray' shaped to accommodate the
cere--ciloth wrappsd corpse and a 'licd' similarly bespoke and with crude
repousse facial featurss and defined breasts, arms, legs, hands,; and faet
with a lead inscription shield solderad to the lid above the abdomen,

though it is not unkrown for the taxt to be incised into the lead of the
shell itgelf (15). Such coffins were supplied Tor both adults and children,
the latter resembling skittles. Not 211 of thess shells were necessarily
provided vith outsr wocden cases; those that were are recorded as having
been placed in either a rectangular iron-banded chest (16) or a single-break
flat-lidded shell (17).

Alsoc in use at this time was the rectsngular flat-lidded lead shell, usually
with an inner elm coffing as with its anthropomorphic relation, the
soldaring is somewhat crude, with distinct flat-—iron marks (18). A variant
of this is the shell whose sides taper towards the feot end. In eicher
instance the lead inscription plate was quitz small, usually not more than
150 x 375mm, and solderad to the licd roughly above the occupant's chin. No
known examples with cuter wooden shells are recorded;y the lead shells of
this type at Lydiard Tregoze have their ocwn carrying rings and would noty
tharefore, nhave bsan provided with an outer wooden shell.

By far tihe rarest coffin of the period is the gable-lidded single-brsak
shglls they are commonly known from contemporsry illustrations and by nine
extant  three-dimensional examples in stone on various sepulchral meonunents
(19), Tne three recordsd examples, two of lead=lapped wood and one of elm,
are in scuthern England (20) but from the locations of the sepulchral
monuments we know that their use was far more -widespread.
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Without exception coffins within vsults and brick-lined shafts from the
late 17th century onuwards tend to be single-brasak flat-lidded and come in
four types: single-shell, single-shell double 1lid, double wooden shell, and
triple shell (lead=-lapped inner wooden shell with an outer wooden case).
From a recent survey of a cache of eight thousand ccffins of the period

c 13235-1985 (21) little has changed regarding the overall shape since the
late 17th century; there was an attempted revival of the gable-lidded
tapered-sided shell during the mid-19th century but it did not meet with
widespread success.

Befcre we proceed to consider woods, fabric coverings, and coffin fuirniture
(the nomenclature ascribed to the melal fittings), a word on the use of lead
and embalming. Lead was used for no other purpose than to contain the gases
and putrescent adipocre associated with the decomposition process and not as
an aid of maintaining, for as long as possible, the life-like appearance of
the contents. Inde=d, some bodies were 'embalmed', but this only entailed
evisceration and the sluicing of the cavities uwith spirits of wine and a
sunfece appiication of resirious 'creams' as & precaution against coffin
explosion and decomposition odour relating to corpses whose burial might be
delayed for one reason or another. When this was done the entrails wers
sezlad in a small chest, somz 400mm cubed, and straightway deposited in the
vault (22)., Arterial 'embalming' was nct introduced until the mid-18th
century; even then it was little more than hygenic treatment and arose as

a Jdirect consequence of experiments undertaken by the surgsons Zohn and
William Hunter in their attempts to perfect 2 means of preserving

anatomicul specimens for inedical schools. In the main the average cadaver
went *o the tomb untreated, clothed in a shroud, and was usually cased and
vaulted within three days of death.

The most popular wonod for coffins has always been elm; it is eminently
suitable for it is so cross-grained as to be nearly unsplittable. Oak

was occasionally used but only for exceptionally crand interments. Withn
the introduction of French polishing in the second quarter of the 15th
century, however, oak came into its own, for elm was not considered to he
suitable. GCventually, waxing took over from fFrench polishing. Veneers
appear ‘touards the beginning of the 1880s, though an 18th century exampie
survivea (23)., Constructior~wise, 2ll coffins are butt-jointed with sidus
interrially kerfed {usuzlly eeven sawcuts) and bent tu shape, the base boazrd
fite within the sides and ends, the lid spanning the sides and ends. Once
formed, then, the joints are internally sealedwith pitich fo prevent the
escape of any obnoxious liquids. In this way were made the single-shell
coffins, the single-shell double-lidded coffins, and the double wcoden
shell cuffins.

The lead was usually what is kiown as 51lb lead, ie it weighed 51lb per
square foot. Obviovsly, it could not be fabtricated until the inner wooden
coffin had been made and sealed, for the innmer coffin acted as a form for
the plumber. At least eight types of manufacture have besn recorded, nona
specific to any particular period or geographic locacion other than
anthropomorphic shells, and they were additionally secured to the inner
shell by nails which in turn uwere soldered over to maintain the watertight
conditions required. Some of these coffins are extremely elaborate, with
raised panelled sides (24), appliqued lettering (25), and, in the case of
those of the mid-18th century onwards, a diaper pattern achieved by cross-—
hatching with wire wool.



Figure 5 Vale of Sorrows: A mid-19th century engraving of a London parochial vault
of the 18th century. The vaults beneath Christ Church, Spitalfields (at
present the subject of a full archaeological examination) are far more
crowded. Photo Trustees of the Victoria and Albert Museum, London



Figure 6 Branston, Wray Vault: A late 17th century vault in use until 1839.
The two coffins on the north side of the vault are edged with
stamped and pierced coffin 'lace' Photo P Wilson

Figure 7 I1ford (Hospital chapel of SS Mary & Thomas), Public Vault:
A good example of an 18th century/19th century suburban parochial
vault, the floor of brick paviours, the majority of the furniture
being black enamelled tin-dipped iron Photo London Borough of
Barking Reference Library



The technique of upholstering the ocuter coffin was, as far as it is known,
intreduced in the mid/late 16th century and has its origins in the grand
fabric-~covered travelling trunks used by the nobility. The earliest
surviving example is at Exton (Somersst) and is covered with a pitched
cambric, a material later used in its criginal state for the coverings of
the inner wooaen shells of triple coffins. From the mid-17th century and
until the early 19th century velvet was favoured for the better-ouality
coffin and baize for others: this applied tn all corfins, incluoing those
destined for earth burial. At first, black velvet held sway but by the
garly 18th century scarlet was favoured, with purple beiny reserved
exclusively for the royals. And so it remained until the early 13th
century when there was a reintroduction of black together with the choice
of midnight blue, turquoise (for children only), and, on the odd occasion,
an emerald green, the latter looking magnificent if gilt furniture was
applied. The earlier fabrics were imported but, with the arrival of the
Huguenots, Spiteslfields became the centre of the 'black stuff' industry.
Faded rmrimson velvet closely resembles decaying chamois and, to the
untraired eye, mistakes can be made in recording. 0Only one leather-covered
coffin has been mecorded {26); fabric analysis should always be part of
post—-excavation work heare.

Coffin furriture has its own terminology (27): handles are known as grips,
hack—plates &s grip-plates, coffin plates as breast plates, upholstery

rails as nins, lid decorations as motifs, and side decorations as
escutcheons. In this section the correct terminology will be used. Very
faw 16th century outer wooden cases survive but w2 know that little
furnitnure was used apart from wrought-iror grips, a lead breast plate, and
side panellingachigved by the imposition of pins. In the early 17th century
the average coffin was provided with bhlack furniture: iron-headed pins,

1ead breast plate, and wrought-iron grips all painted black and set against
black velvet; one particularly finz sxample was discoverad in a small vault
at West lHam, Essex, in the summer of 1985 where & skelston has been outlined
on the lid with black-hszaded pins. Ths mid=17thk century saw the introducztion
of stamped iron breast plates and similarly manufactured grip plates. the
former being a2 concave oval inscription plate encircled with garlanas of
flowers, the latter of repoussed winged cherub s heads; the number of pins
increased and we see them beirg used for blank psneliing, one, two,; or %tnree
pirs wide depencing con the purse of the purchaser.

But coffin furniture, as an art form and manufecture, took off in the 18th
century. Geip and breast plates were available in a varietv of metals and
finishess gilt copper, copper, brass, silver (tin-dipped iron, though
somgtimes silver leaf was used), black (which was more expensive than
silver, since it was manufactured by painting over the silver finish), and
white, really a matt cream psint, ror childrens' cuffins. In 1769 Thomas
Pickering, a London tinplate manufacturer, patented a method of stamping
out coffin furniture and it libersted tne industry in general. Lead plates
for outer coffins were still aveilable, tnough stampsd ireon prevailec. By
the end of the 18th century coffin furniture was lerded on to the outer
shells and it must have looksd dramatic: a scarlet velvet covered coffin,
the sides, ends, and lid pannelled with threce rows of brass-headed pins, a
brass inscription plate, four pairs of gilt copper grip plates with cast-
iron grips, water-gilded 1lid motifs, and escutcheons.

The lid motifs were also available in the various mstals, as wsre tne
escutcheons. The most popular 18th century lid motifs were the vasse of
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flowers (affixed above the knees) and the Crown of Life supported by two
angels (affixed above the face). Escutchsons, small repoussed motifs of
winged angel heads, open Bibles, sunbursts, and crossed palms were used as
spandrels in the corners of the blank panelling of the sides and,
occasionally, on the lids. But tere were many designs, all sub~Baroque, and
recourse st be made to the extant pattern bocks for a comprebensive survey.

Hinges, lace, repousse, ancd three-dimensional coronats are but four of the
more unusual items of coffin furnitues met with in grander vaults. Hinges
were, in effect, angle brackets of brass or plated iron used as an external
decorative motif, whereas 'lace' was a navrrow stamped and pierced floral
garland, usually silverad, used instead of upholstery pins. Repoussed and
three-dimensional coronets, painted proper, were usually affixed to the lids
of coffins of persons of quality (28). ‘ :

By the first guarter of the 19th century coffin furniture had adopted a more
neo—-classical image, though with the introduction of french polishirg and
tre gradusl disuse of velvet the amount of applique furniture decreased. By
the end of the century the coffin boasted no more fTurniture than its 16th
century predecessor and likewise 'gothic' in detail.

So, is the vault more the territory of the historian and antiquarian than
the archaeolcgist? Recent funesrary studies prove that there is a wealth

of reference material, previously uniecorded, available for study. including
coffin fucniture pa*ttern books of the 1Bth century,

Vaults are probably the last repository of undisturbed masonry and brickwaork
available for exominetion; cone finds unsroded brickwork, unabraded 17th
century flonr tiles, perfect mortar samples, types of bidning current, and
aven the odd reused stone. Ffrom the coffins we learn of plumbing techniquss,
woodworking skills, the imported cloth trade, sarly veneers, corroboratives
information from breast plates to compare ageinet the inscriptions on
funarary monumerts, and, more importantly, base metalwork,

But it should not be forgotten that thece vsulte are the sepulchres of the
dead and that the Christian remains enshrined there should be trsated with
the utmost respect. Research should be aided by photogrephy to avoid the
necessity of removing artefacts from the vault; coffin furniture, and
certainly human remains, should be examined in_situ and not treated as the
spoils of a latter-day Memphis. In support, it should be noted tha*
throughout the recent rasearches no vault has heen entered that has not
either been accidentally breached by others or necessarily opened prior to
the unavoidable removal of the remains for rveburial slsewhere, Vaults
should not be regarded as an 'added attraction' to be examined if time
permits; indeed, they are often cramped and hszardous to work in end only
those with experience should te permitted to enter.

The CBA and Council for the Care of Churches will shoitly be producing
guidelines on funerary archasclogy in churches-ir-use, compiled by those
who have teen actively esngaged in this new and exciting avenue of research,
Most of all our thanks must go to the many thousands of persuns who have

so patiently tolerated the temporary disturbance of their rest in the cause
of science. ' '

+ + + + 4+
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Notes

For the purpcses of this paper tyault' refers to a subterranean chamber
capable of housing a minimum of two coffins side by side and with en
internal height of not less- than 1, 75m. It does not concern itself with’
the stone and/or brick cists associated with pre~1500 funerary menuments
nor the later shallow single-width brick-lired grave capatcle of housing
only one coffing the latter are correctly termed 'Srick-lined graves'

with the late "17th/18th dentqry.sihgle~width brick-1ined shafts, corfins
wers not placed directly orn tcp .of one anotheij rather they were separated
by means of iron bars spanning the width,

It would be erroneous to state that burial chambers of the calibre of this
report were not in use prior to 1500; those that were, such as the 1477/8
Clarence vault at Tewkesbury Abbey, should be 1egarded as the exception in
the history of early intermural interment practices rather than the rule.

A number of the leter hurial vaults wele inﬁernally rendered and whitewaéhed;
this manner of treatment should be regarded as a predeliction of those who
had the vault constructed rather than the normal practice at any one period.

1 The earliest dated purpose-built burial vault of the period covered by
this panmer is that constructed in 1507 at the-request of Henry VII
bereath his mortuary chapel at Westminster Abbey. GSee A P Stanley
Historical memorials of Westminsteir Abbey, London (John Murray ) 1859,
678-86, illus.

2 With the passing of the Burial Boasrcds Act 1852 (15 & 16 Vic. ¢ 85 Public
Works), Vestries wers empowersd to provide burial grounds; from then on
intermural burisl declined and many Orders in Council were obtained over
the next few years closing overcrowdsd churchya;ds and public and private
vaulte within the larger. town churches.

3 Julis Roxan,and Richard Morris, Church archseology in Britain, 19%55-1980,
in The church in British archaeology (ed R Morris), Counz Brit Archaenl
Res Rac 47 (1983), appendix I. For reports on garlier excavations one
should consult the indices of the many srchasolegicsl journals.

4 Four pattern books for coffin furniture of the period 1750-1825 zre in
the Department of Designs, Prints and Drawings at the Victoria and Albert
Museum with the pressmarks M 60 H, M 63 E, M 62 F, and M 63 R. Following
exhaustive enguiries these appear to be the only survivors of what was
once a highly lucrative branch of the Soutnwark and Elrmlngham metal
trades.

5 Obviocusly many vaults are associated with the endowment cf church
extensions and restoration schemes whose donors maintained the right of
sepulture beneatn the geographic boundaries of their gift but, in the
main, access steps to vaults beneath the main body of the church were
frowned upon, for they limited the amount of space available for sale
to other interessted parties.

6 The east chambar of the 5t John vault at Lydiard Tregoze (mlltshlre) of
c 1590 (B Carne, The St John vault in Lydiarc Tregoze church, Rep Friends
Lydiard Tregoze, 18 (1985), 2B8-34) is a good sxample of ihis type.

7 See the Cavendish vault, Derby Cathecral, of T 1605 and its duplicate
extension of ¢ 1810 (Morris, 8p cit, fig 27).
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See the Roper vault in St Dunstan's, Canterbury (T Tatton-Brown, The
Roper chantry in St Dunstan's church, Canterbury, Antig J, 60 (1980),
227-46, pls xxv-xxviii) of c 1625/50.

The Lethieullier vault at Little Ilford (Essex) of ¢ 1737 (M Redknap,
Little Ilford, St Mary the Virgin, 1984, London Archaecl, 5 no 2 (Spring
1985), 31=7) is of this type. :

See the C 1810 extension to the Cavendish vault at Derby Cathedral and

the west extension to the Poulett vault at Hinton St George (Somerset),
constructed in 1814 by Sir Jeffry Wyattville for John, 4th Earl Poulstt.

The 1822 Bell vault at Milton (Kent) is shelved in a honeycombe fashiong

such loculi were to become the mode of seculture in privave cemstery
catacombs and are sometimes met with in the larger parochial vaults of
town churches.

St Marylebone parish church vaults were cleared commercially during
1962/3, at which time access was authorised for the stucly of the coffin
furniture. A comprehensive archaeologicsl and paleomedical survey is

at present in hand, under ths direction of Ms Jex Reeve, of the vault
contents at Christ Church, Spitalfields. The Spitalfields Report will,
when published, become the standard work of reference on funerary
technigues of the period 1740-1850. Later this year the vaultes of

€t Anne's, Soho, will be clsared, under the same terms as S5t Marylebone.

A fien-tail coffin was seen in one cof the private vaults benesath
St Marylebecne parish church in February 1983,

Charnei ciscs survive in the Roper vault at St Dunstan's, Canterbury,
the St John vault at Lycdiard Tregoze (Wiltshire), and the Hazlerigg
vault at Noseley (Lzicestershire).

Examples of shield bpeast?plates survive in the Barnardiston vault at
Kedington (Suffolk) (W H B, Barnardiston vaults in Kecington church,
Proc Suffolk Inst Archasol Natur Hist, XVI (1918), 44-8, illus) ana the

Cholmondley vault at Malpas (Chesﬁire), whilst three examples of incised
inscriptions are at St Mary's, Hemel Hempstead (Hertfordshire), one being
on open display.

James I anthropomorphic coffin was so cased, see Stanley op cit,

then examined by Dean Stanley (Stanley, op c.it, 668-70) Elizabeth I's
anthropomorphic shell was seen to be housed in a flat-lidded single-break
coffin. : '

See photographs of the coffin of Elizabeth Culpepper at Hollingbourne
(Kent). i .

Burton Agnes (Yorkshire) — three versions; Chelssa 0lc¢ Churchi East
Barsham (Norfolk); Iver (Buckinghaemshire); Rodney Stoke (Somerset);
Steane (Northamptonshire); Alestree monument, Derby Cathedral (an
example in wood).

The two lead examples are in the De La Warr vault at Withyham {Sussex),
one being illustrated in I Noel Hume, New clues to an old mystery,
National Geogr Mag, 161 nc 1 (Washington (NGS} January 1982), 63, whilst

the elm coffin of 1608 is at Exton (Somerset) (I Noel Hume, Martin's
Hundred: the search continues, Colonisl Williamsburg, VIII no 1
(Williamsburg (The Colonial Williamsourg Foundation) Autumn 1985 o o b
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21 These coffins are contained in the loculi beneath the Hnglican‘Chapal at
All Souls' Cemetery, Kensal Green. Thess catacombs are not open to the
public.

22 Viscera chests survive in many vaults, most noticably the royal vaults
beneath Westninster Abbey (Stanley, op cit) and two are illustrated in
the photograph of the c 1605 Cavendish vault at Derby Cathedral (Morris,
op_cit cit).

23 This example was discovered in 1984 during the excavations at St Augustine's,
Bristol. 1In fact the vereer was on the ovter face of an inner elm coffin
and had been effixed to prevent splitting of the tamber czussd by too
deep a kerf, '

24 See W H B, op cit, for two examples of this type in the Barnardiston
vault at Kedleston. Further excellent examples are in the Culpepper
vault at Hollingbourne (Kent).

25 Pppligue lettering has been ssen on zoffins at Hollingbourne (Kent), ae
well as in the St John vault at Lydiard Tregoze and the Hazlerigg vault
at Noseley (leicestershire).

26 This coffin, of the mid=18th century, was discovered in the lower west
range of public vaults at Christ Zhurch, Spitaifields in 1985, The
leather was undeccrated.

27 The nomenclature is common to that found 1n ths extant pattern booke and
contemporary unrdertakers'! accounts. This terminclogy is to be
resurrected for the forthcoming rveport on the excavations at Christ
Church, Spitalfields.

28 Funerary coronets are of stamped brass with bLrass or wooden baubles; thev
were axceptionally popular 175C-1825, A pristire example is in the
Uncercicft Museum at Westminster Abbey on the head of the effigy of the
Duke of: Buckingham d 1743. The last recorded use of such an item was in.
1915 at the funeral of Rosa, Dowsger Countess Poulett: the coronet still
sits on har coffin at Hinton St George.

— o — —

5t Pster, lWootten YWawen, Warwickshire Steven Bassatt

The third season of historical investigstions at Wootten Wewen was undectaken

by the School of History of Birmingham University in late June and July 1985,
The work of St Peter's church is describad here briefly. a fuller account of it,
and reports on the churchyard survey and the yuar s fielcdwork, can be fcound in
Bassett 19E5,

The season saw completion of the measured stone-by-stone drawing of the north
walls of the tower and nave. Tne resultant drawing (too large to reproduce
here) appears as Figure 1 in Bassett 1985, Most of the important aspects of
the two walli faces shcwn in it have already been discussed at some length in
the first two reports. In summacy, tnere are Lh:ee phases of fabric visible

in the nave wall below clerestory lsvel, of which the earlisst is late Anglo-
Saxon or Normar, the second Normen, and the third late 13th century. The
lowest three stages of the tower are Anglo-Saxon, of one tuild and -wemonstrably
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earlier than all phases of the rave. Substantial stubs of the side walls of
a north porticus survive, embedded in 19th century buttresses but clearly
bonded into the tower. Thae jambs and probably the imposts of the north tower
arch are original elements but (by analogy with the south and east tower
arches) its round head may have replesced a gabled one.

It is now cleer that the north porticus remaired standing until about the start
of the 19th century. A view ot St Peter's church from the north-sast has nouw
peen found in & collection of engravings of Warwickshire churches compiled

c 1821, It shows a structurs against the rorth side of the tower which ean
only be the porticus (Bassett 1985, Plate 1). This has a massive lean-—to zoof
which reaches up to within a few centimetres of the string course at the base
of the bell chamber. Such a roof cannot hava been the original one, since it
entirely covered the Anglo-Saxcn belfry window still visible in outline near
the top of che rubble work. It is most unlikely to have been put on the
porticus until the present bell chamber was added to the tower, apparently

in the 75th century. 1Its constructien involved heightening the side walls of
the poriicus very considerably., The end (north) wall, howsver, is likely to
have remained more or less at its former height, which is indeed very much as
the engraving shouws.

Inside the church work was concentrated in two areas. In the nave a3 section
of 19th century panelling was removed from the east wall. so as to investigate
(1) ths base cof the tower, north of the western tower-arch; (2) the junction
made with .t by the north arm cf the present nave's east wally and (3) any
gvidence of the north wall of the first nave, This revealed an interesting
structural sequence (Figure 8). No scar survived to indicate thz exact
Junction of the first nave's north wall with the tower. The two had been
fully in bond but the scar created by demolition of the nave wall had later
been faced over during the first reconstruction (phase 2) of the present

nave, which abuts the north face of the tower (Figure 9). Despite the absence
of a scar it ie clear that the first nave was of the same width as the touwer.
The foundaticns of the towsr's west wall end abruptly to the northy, about
0.80m short of the north-west corner, with the top course and possibly tha
third one doun (the lowest visible) having shattered north edges. The courses
in the wall face above and more or less at the same edge, or else project
beyond it by no more than half a stcne's length. Thie break in the fabris
soincides with the south edge of a trench, filled with a distinctive raddish-
brown clayey soil, which runs away west at right-angles to the wall face., To
the sast it is truncated by the foundsations of the present nave. The trench's
north edge is hidden by a modern concrete floor, but chere can be no doubt
that it is the robber trench of the flirst nave's north walls measuresmant ard
other evidence show that this wall and the north wall of the tower wers ons
and the same.

Two phases of fabric wers found in the aast well of the present nave, These
showed the same characteristics {store size, texture and colour of mortar,
etc) as the two fabrics found in the same wall's eas: face on a previous
occasion (Bassett 1983, S5-6). They are also certainly the same as the louest
fabrics vieible in the exterior fuace of the nave's north wall, the later of
which contains a single-splayed round-headed window. It.is this phase 2 work
which was extended right across the scar left by demolition of the originsl
nave wall, sc as to provide an even, well mads face.

In the chancel a survey of the limewash and plaster on the west wall was
carried out in February 1985 by David and Mark Perry of The Perry Lithgow
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Partnership. This indicated thet the wall carried a single general laysr of
mortar of slaked lime and sand, difficult to date but psitaps of 16th century
origin. Four successive applicotions of white limewash had been made to it,
none of which had ever bean paintaed. In two parts of the w2ll this morter L
overlay a urther mortar on which were found two leyers of limewash, both
unpainted.

During the summer season the later mortar was removed to a height of about

4m abouve the 16th century panelling (2m high) which stards against tne base
of the wall. This revealed the full width of the east face of the tower's,
east wall as well as the mortar—filled scars of tne north and south walls or
the original chancel. The latter corcesponded exactly to the slight bulges

in thz limewashed mortar which had been seen as evidence of the former walls'
locetions (Bassett 1983, 2). Wwhen emptiad the scars showzd that the side
walls of the Anglo-Saxon chancel had bzen 0.68m (27in) wide, which is the
width of the walls of the tower and the two former porticus, and the estimated
width of the firs:t nave's north wall {Figure 9). The twc walls arez inset
from the east corners of the tower by exectly one wall's width sach. At

the top of =ach scar a largs rectangular void was found projecting back into
the tower wall for at least 0.,30m (12in), with its outer edge coinciding with
that of the scar. There can be no coubt that these voids secursd the
chancel's wall platas. One of them still contains a substantial baulk of
timner.

The zrea of the tower's wall face and the scars raveaied by mortar remou=l
have not yet been drawuni that will be doms in the 1986 summer 528s0N.
Howevsr, it can already be said that the tound head of the east lower—arch
locks to be secondary (as does the scuth tower-arch's:s Bassett 1984, 4-5),
wnereas the imposts and jambs are originel. The keystone projacts bayond
the other voussoirs. This projectior has been roughly cut in the form of a
cross, of which one arm is now missing. The feature ic presumably an
original one, since it zlone accounts for the projecting keystone.

Copies of the two reports on the werk done at Wootten Wawen in 1984 and 1985
can be obtainmed from 5 R Bassett, Schcol of History, University of Birmingham,
PO Box 363, Birmingham B15 2TT, priced £1 ezch (including postage;.

Refarences

Bassett 1983 (1984, 19R5) S R Bassett, Ths Wootten Wawen project: interim
report no 1 (2, 3)

+ + 4+ + +

S5t Mary, Sedgeberrow, Hersford and Worcester Bruce Watson

Survey work on the church of St Marv the Virgin in Sedgeberrow (sP 02463853)
during 1984-5 revealed that part of the church fahric is of pra-14th century
date, Copiszs of a fully illustraced archive report have been deposited in
Birmingham University and Worcester City Library (1) and a report is
forthcoming in Trans Worcestsrshire Archzecl Soc, 10 (198€). The aim of
this article is tc briefly outline the results of the survey.
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Introduction

The rectangular parish church is of open plan consisting of chancel, nave,
porch, vestry, and a D-shaped hexagonal west tower, cappad by a regular
octagonal spire. An entry in the Worcester Episcopal Register records the
dedication of a church in Secdgeberrow on 16 September 1331 (Moger & Wragge
1912, 5205 Marsh 1915, 218)., Several architectural features of the present
church - the north docr, possibly the east window, and probably the piscina
and reredos - are of broadly 14th century date (Pevsner 1968, 258). The
dote of these features confirms that this was the building referred to in
the 1331 dedication.

However, there was cbvicusly an earlier church in the village, as a priest
was mentioned in the Domesday entry for Sedgeberrow (Thorn & Thorn 1982,
2.65), and nine refersnces were mads to a village churzch and its clerqgy in
Bistop Gifrard's register of 1268-1301 (Willis-Bund 1902). The only abvious
pre=14th century feature is the (Norman?) font.

Descripticn of the early fabric

Examinatior of the church fabric is difficult because the outside is faced
with a fairly uniform ashlar masonry and all of the interior is plastered,
except for a small portion of the west wall of the nave adjoining the tower,
As none of the intericr walls of the touer is plactered, this was the
obvious place to lock for pre-14th century fabric.

The tower is entered from the nave by a Cothic arched door with 2 tall cval
rebate, cxamination of the masonry above the rebate revealed the rtemaing of
what appears to be an earlier oval door arch of rubble canstruction. This
possible door arch is an integral part of ‘hs west wall of the nave, while

the Gothic door has clearly been inserted into the wall. At this level, the
walls of the 14th century hexagonal tower butt up agairst the west wall cf the
nave, showing that it pre-dates the tower (se= Figure 10),

Higher up the west wall of the nave are tuwo rectangular openings from the
towsr into the main body of the church, The lower opaning (138cm high and
52cm wide) is on the first storay of the tower. This opening is an inteqgral
part of the west wall of the nave. The upper part of the west wall on this
storey has been rebuilt to allow the insertion of the sets af 14th centucy
squinchs, whizh suppcrt the sscond Tloor of the tower. It is at this level
that the shape of the tower changes from hexagonal to octagonal. Just above
the base of the lower opening on the east side if the wall is a flat--topped
stone bracket, the original purpose of which is unkopun (sse Figure 10),

The seccnd storey of the tower is the belfry. In the east wall of the tower
at floor level is the upper opening (91cm high and 61cm wide)s This tiny
opening is an integral part of the wall., The upper part of this storey
merges into the stone spire,

Discussion

Tne lowsr portion of the west wall of the nave ie certainly of pra-14th
century date. The obvious interpretat.on of this masorry is that it -
represents part of a pre-14th century church, which has survived by
incorporation into the fabric of the present church., The only clue to the
age of thnis masonry are its two architectural features, the oval arch and
the lower opening. Though the upper opening is in the same style as the
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lowsr one, it is part of the tower (believed to be of 14th century date )

Is it possible that these two architectural festures are of Anglo~Saxon date?
The oval arch, assuming that it is a door arch, has no good Anglo-Saxon
stylistic parallels as mcst rubble-built Anglo-Saxan door arches tenc to be
circular, not oval (Taylor 1978, 801). The ovel arch is unlikely to be of
Norman date as Norman doorways tend to be constructed of asshlar and rebated
Taylor 1978, 758). Assuming that the lower opening is a window (it is too
short for a door), it does not look like a typicel Anglo-Saxon window as it
is not splayed and is flat-headad, not round-headed like the majority of
Anglo-Saxon wincows (Taylor 1978, 844), The lowsr opesning is similar in
design to three Anglo-Saxon doorways in the choir of Deerhu-st church. In
conclusion, both these featurss ars undateable ard the plan of the pre-14th
century church cannct be reconstructed from the small area of masonry
identified in the west wall of the nave.

If the pre-14th century church fabric is of late Anglo-Saxcn (AD 853-1000)
dste. something that is only a pussibility and rot a proven fact, it Is
unigue in Worcestershire. Evidsnce of late Anglo~Saxon settlement has
recently been discovered close to the church (Price ¢ Wateon 1984 ).

Notes

1 Title of the archive report 'A possible Anglo-Sexon church in Sedgeberrow,
Hereford and Worcs', by E A Price and B Watson (1985).
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Csrlisle Cathedrsl Mike McCarthy

Small-scale excavztions were undertsken by Carlisle Archaszological Unit dusing
1985 on bahalf of the Dean and Chapter, Engiish Heritage, and Carlisle City
Council.. Six small trenches were excavated, three against the south wall of
the choir aisle and three at the weet end., The excavations were intended to
provide cetails on the depth and nature of the foundations fer the Dean and
Chapter and were limited in size in order to minimize damage to the
archaeology.
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Cocumentary sources providereason toc believe that the earliest ecclesiastical
presence dates to early in the reign of Henry I, but the 'traditional!
foundation date for the house of Augustinian cancns is 1123, The diocese of
Carlisle was founded ir 1133, from which time the eite served the dual
function of Augustinian Friory and Cathedral. The precinct cccupies an area
in excess of 4.5 acres as a roughly rectangular plot on the west side of the
medieval town. The only archasological excavation recorded was inm 1953, when
tha late F G Simpson dug o small trench believed to be against tne cuter face
of the north wall of the nzvs near the modern vestry. These excavetions
remzin unpublished but from rough notes mades at the time by Robert Hogg,
formerly Curator of Carlisle Museum and Art Gallery, and photographs, it is
clear that very little was discovered which adds significantls to what we

NoW KNow.

Excavations elsswhere in C-orlisle have rsvealed the presence of a substantial
Roman settlement as well as indications of Middle Saxon occupation, The
latter includes some slight structural festures a* Blackfriars Street, to tie
south of the Cathedral as well as coins, some glass, and metalwork from
several locations. Finds of Anglian sculpture from ths arsa of the Cathedral
were made in the 19th century. Bede and other writers rsfer tu a monastery
in Carlisle from 685, but it is thought that this may not have survived after
the lats 9th or early 10th century. The location of the monastery has not
been established, but the archacological evidence points to a Middle Saxon focus
on the west sidea of the medieval touwn., The sizas, sh=pe, and position of the
Cathedral precinct mark out this site as a gtirong candidate for an important
Saxon if not also Roman centre of activity.

The excavations revealed deposits tentatively identified ss Roman, but the
features could not be defined and no attempt was made to investigate them
further, ;

No positive evidence regarding the post-Roman pre-12th century siquence uas
recognized, though a possible 9th century coin (a2 styca) is noteworthy. This
apparently negative evicdence is not significant given the small size of the
excavations. It can be shown, hocwever, that the north wall of the nave,
currently attributed tec the sarly or mid=12th century, cut through a burisl,
This grave is the first arcnseoclogical hint of a pre-1123/50ish ecclesiastical
prasence on the site., A radiocarbon date is awsited on some of the bones.

The 12tk century foundations in both the north and south walls of the nave .. .
incorporated counterpitched reused sandstone blocks and large fragments of
opus signinum. A similar foundation is alsoc apparent in one of the phctographs
taken of the 1953 excavations, The origin of this foundation maoterial is not
certain but is likaly to be either an important Roman building or an important
Saxon structurz in the vicinity. One of the niers of the nave arcade was

also examined, The piers rest on a2 massive sleeper wall 2,4-2,6m wide and

over 1.6m deep and may rest on undisturbed bed rock or wooden piles. The

floor of the Norman nave seems to consist of a thick bed of mortar into: which

a floor, possibly composed of stope slabs, vas set,

As expected, the foundations of the 15th century choir 2isle wore less
substantial than the Normen nave, but it is not clesars whether this is
related to the nature of the underlying Roman cdeposits. Archaeologicel
levels prooably to be linked to ruin, destructicn, and rebuilding following
the siege of 1644=-5 as well as the programme of raestoration by Christian in
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the 1850's, were recognized at the west end. Several burials were located,
most of which were left in situ. One burial to the south of the nave was
inside a coffin composazd of stone slabs cut and fitted with great care. No
objects wers found in the coffin, which was re-sealed. Other finds included
voussoirs with red painted lines, probably from the nave arcade; coins,
pottery, and lead frocm windows and the roof.

Further excavations at the west end will teske place if proposals materialize
for an underground Treasury., Other limited excavations within tha precinct-

as part of a programme of restoration are possible in the next few years.

+ + + + +

Haverforduest priory, Dyfed ‘ Sian E Rees

The ruins of the Augustinian priory or Haverfordwest {(5M 957152) lie on the
wazast bank of ths River Cleddau, on the south side of the town. The site of
the priory, grantecd to the Augustinian Canons about 1200 (precise date
unknown) by the Tancard family of Haverford, seems always to have been
extramuraly it occupied a subsidiary suburban settlement at Parva Haverford,
about half a mile south of the main town. The site is low-lying and would
appear always to have been marshy and prone to flooding. Documentetion for
the priory is unfortunately sparse but its history seems to have been
relatively ureventful. It may be compared with ihe similarly urban
Augustinian house at Carmarthen. At the Dissolution in 1536 the net

income of the house was £133 11s 1d.

The site was never formally used after the Dissclution for anything other
than a quarry for building stone. The decay of the stonswork seams to have
begun quite gquidklyand the site continued to be plundered until carly tnis
century. In 1922 and 1924 two short seascns of e<cavation were carrisd out
7y Clapham and Rahbula (Archzeol Cambrensis 1922, 327-34, and 1924, 333=9)
with the purpose of establishing the size and extent of the ruins. The site
was taken into care of the Secretary of State for Wales in 1982 and
consolidaticn work of the standing masonry commenced in the fdugust of that
ysar. Excavations on behalf of Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments have been
undertaken in 1983, 1984, and 1985 as a part of a programme of works along
with the masonry consclidaticn. The excavations have so far concentrated
on the east end of ths church and crossing, the transepts, chapter house,
slype, and nloister (see Figure 11).

When work first started on the site, the standing remains were slight and
much grown over. The transept walls and part of the west and south walls

of the rave were evident standing tc almost full height and a small section
of the innmer wall of the west range and another small section of the south
wall of the east range was standing, but dapressions in the ground indicatad
the positions of the cloister and the survival of footings of the walls of
all three ranges had already been demonstrated by Clapham and Rahbula. Thas,
coupled with the fact of the abandonment of the complete site since the
Disscluticn, suggested that helow ground survival of the entire pricry
complex might well be quite good. The requirements of the programme of
consolidation that the entire standing masonry be sexpesed, and the demands
of presentation work, dictated that excavation shcould commence in the church.
In 1983, the north transept and chancel were bisected and the south-sast
guadrant of the cloister was excavatedy in the 1984 season, we excavated
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the south side of the chancel and bisectad the south transept and completed
the excavation of the scuth-east quadrant of the cloister. Excavation of
the slype and chapter house was started., ODuring the 1985 season,; the
excavation cf the chancel and the sast sides ol the transepts and the slype
was continued and some excavation was undertaken in the garden of the
adjoining propertv outside the west and north wall of the nave, as this
garden was due to be developed (see Figure 11).

The church is a normal cruciform structure positioned on the north of the
priory ccmplex. It is 45.7/m long, 26.Bm across the transept, and all fcur
arms have a width of 4m. The church walls are consietently 1.6m wineg tha
exterior face of the east wall of the chancel had corner buttresses and a
centmal mural buttress, while the north and south walle were found toc nave
three mural buttresses each., The build of tie church would appear to be
garly 13th century and as yet there is no evidence to suggest any drastic
alterstions of length or width at any stage in its use. Eighteenth century
illustrations of priorv rtuins indicate that the church had a central tower
and that the north wall of the chancel was standing certainly until the
early 79th century,

Befoure the recent series of excavations, rothing survived sbove ground cf
the remains of the east end of the church. The excavations have now
revealed the chancel walls which were found tc have besn tobbed to below

the latest surviving priory flcor levels, save for a small sectiorn avcund
the north-east correr, and the western half of the north wall, The strateqy
for the excavation was tc excavate to reveal the latest surviving floor
levels but not to remove these levels, a* any 1ate in the first instancs.

"he altar.uwas found tc have baen much robbed but enough survived to shou
that it was inserfed into floor make~-up, was 3 x 2m and set directly against
the east wall, and surrounded at lsast on the north and south by a more
shallowly founded step which probaoly would have sontinued around the nouw
much-damaged west side also. A smail area of ciling on the north west of
the altar may belong to this raised surround. This rather patched area of
tiling included two complete examples of & relief tils of a hitheite unknown
pattern.

The remainder of the chancel floor was very disturbed by a number of piis, the
latest and most devastating of which may bave been excavated by Rahbula in
1924 to test for surviving floor levels. This trenchk had cut through a grave
against the south wall and a double grave immediately to its north. These
graves were excavated. The southernmost grave was set directly against ths
south wall, The skelzton was complete and the regular placing of coffin

nails and. a stain, probably from the wooden side of the coffin, rovealed the
shape and size of the original coffin, However, laid arcund the side of che
body were assorted human bunes, other irregularly placed nails, and a spur,
indicating that an earlier grave had been disturbed for the later interment.

# few cms further north lay a double grave. The east end (the feet of the
twc bodies) had been disturbed by the large trench described above., The tuwo
skegletons were otherwise compleste and were surrounded by a large number of
regularly spacea coffin nails, many of which showed the impressions of wood;
the two bodies were buried as two separate interments in the one orave.

The chancel was found to have three regularly-spaced steps which raised
the floor level toward the altar, The easternmost step had been disturbed
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by a series of late pits which had chemselves doubtless cut through the graves.
In the fill of one of these pits was found a small cross-—-shsped reliquary
box of silver.

The floor to the west of the eastermmost stap was relatively undisturbed,
though, of course, a seriss of graves lay between the stagps. The southernmost
lying immediately adjacent toc the robbed sovth wall, had been disturbad by
the rebbing and was excavated, It wee found to cverlie directly an earlier
grave which was left unexcavated. There was no reason to balieve that the
other graves were disturbed and they were not excavated. Sections of flour
morter with tile impressicns survived in places betwsen the graves. The
middle step had been broken through by an irregular grave which was assumed
toc be post-medieval and was excavated. The skeleton was lyirg con its side,
with itfs head irregularly positioned towards the east, and the absence of
coffin nails suggested that it had not been placed in a coffin.

The floor west of the micddle step had more substantial areas of floor mortar
and surviving tiles in situ, laid diagonally, UWnen the excavaticon of this
arga is complete we will know if there are any late graves here and we will
understand better the apparently post-medisval disturpbance of three stone
settings, deep set, near thes westernmost step.

Wsst of the westernmost step, the floor mortar with some tiles surviving in
situ is intact on the south, while a ceries of at least three well-dafined
graves liss towards the centre. An area of disturbance has removed any
sign (sc far revealed) of graves to tne north and it may be that this large
disturbarce will relete to the use of this area at the Dissclution for lead
smelting. Adjscent to the north wall. a deep pit has cut through a tile-
and stone-lined pit, semi~circular in section. This lining bhad quantities
of lead adhering to its surface and it is thought probable that the avea of
the croscing was used during th2 Dissolutior in the preparing of the lead
from the roof for transportation away from tle site. The southern of the
fwo choir-stall bases had in the rubble fill a large lead ingot with the Rose
and Crown stamp on either end.

The excavatioh of ths crossing is as yst at an early stage, though thz stone
foundations of the cholr stslls have been revealed and small secticns of
tiled flooring strvives the crossing would appsar to have been substantially
disturbed, 7The preliminary excavation work furthsr west has revealed the
upper courses of the pulpitum and a heavily splayed doorway within it,

The transents have been bisected and the sast half cf sach excavated., The
south hslf of the nerth transept floor is substantially intact with much of
the tiled floor still in situ. Furthsr north, the transept has been
substantially disturbed by two deep trenchss, the southern of which was
ravetted by a dry stone walling. UWhatever the original purpose of the
trench may have besn, it was later usad for dumsing and within the fill weie
the skeletons of a horse and a pig with some sheep ard dog bones. Praliminary
analysis of these skeletons by Miss Barbara Noddle suggests that their
deposition may date from the late 19th century. The trenches have removed
any flooring in situ but cnough remairs cn the intact south half to suggest
that the iransept was remodelled at o later stage to incorporate a chapel,
raised stepped floor, and an altar built in to bleck an sarlier niche in

the east wall. The rathar extraocrdinary curved, plastered surface in the
corner betwsen the east wall of the north transept and thz north wail of the
chancel would appear to be a late or post monastic alteraticn,
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Similarly, the south transspt was found to have been remodelled at some
later period to provide a chapel, staspped interior floor; and altar, The
arrangements here are better preserved and the tiled flcor is substantially
intasct. The remndnts cof archses within the mascnry of the standing scuth
wall of the transest suggest a piscina and sedilia in this position (unlike
in the norzth transept), while the broken end of the sast wall on the south-
east corner of the trensept has a groove in it which suggests that in this
position in the east wall there was, as there is in the north transept, a
niche or aumbry with grooves for shslving. The south-west corner of the
south transept has collapsad at a higher level and, unfortunately, the
method by which the night stair led up from the dorter is lost; only the
base of the night stair, in the thickness of the west wall, survives.

The nave itself has not yet been excavated but small-scale cxcavations
sutsids the north wall and west end in advance of the develecpment of the
garaen ol the adjoining property revealed that the corner buttress on the
north—west corner contzined within it a circular newel stair, the base of
wnich survives. Elsevhere the trenches revealed the old monastic ground
surface at some depth below present ground level but no sign of the return
of ths thanel or aisle' found by Clapham tc run westwards from the north
transept,

Fhe slype, 10m long, 2.5m wide, origirally had entrances at the west and the
gast to allow passage through. The flooring appeais to have gone in its
entirety, though some large slabs at the base of the rubble fill may indicate
that the flooring wes originally store. At some late date, the west and
east openings were blocked and plastered over (the plaster is very similar
co that covering the alteration in the scuth ecast cormer of the north
transept) and a doorway was inssrted into the north wall, giving access
direct into the scuth transwept, This doorway has been blocked by 2 stane
pillar inserted probably in the early years of this century, to support an
overhanging saction of weall above. The rubble of the slype has yieldeu a
quantity of plain medieval window glass and window lead. Intersstingly it
was in the rubble of the slype end chapter house till that a number of iron
tools were found, a ccllection which may be interpreted most satisfactorily
as tools for the dismantling of masonry.

The excavation of the chapter house was begun in 1984, The excavation is not
yet complete but it seems as thouon the sast wall has been robbed out entirely
while the other three walls survive to a height of 1.5 tc 2m. Inside the
walling, on all four sides, the benching survives intact. Both walls and
benches are plastered with plain white plaster, though in the rubble fill of
the chapter housz coloured plaster, including one piece with gold-leaf
decoration, has been found, The floor, not yet fully excavated, hes a
diagonally laid buff and green tiled surface, a contirwuation of the same
tiling which is lees well preserved in the cloister. Towards the sast end

of the chapter house is what appears to bes a grave plinth, as yet totally
unexcavated, Within the rubble around the plinch were found fragments of a
limestone effigy of a knight in chainmail, His heéad, pillow, and abecut half
his body survives showing detoils of belt and sword. Also within the rubble
was found an extraordinary corbel, with seven faces carved upon the front

so as to look out from the wall in which-the corbel was built., The frontward
facing face is an idealized portrait with fine beard and moustache. The
three heads on either side appesar to degenerate in refinement so that the
furthast two are swarthy, thick-lipped, wart-ridden faces. 0On the tep of

the stone are the laying~out lines., A large section of vaulting, which
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would have fitted the top of the corbel, was also feound in the rubble nearby,
Many other smaller scctions of vaulting ribs wers found which give a good
ides of the original appezrance of the chapter house ceiling.

The wesc wall of the chapter house has a coorway with a window on either
side, la=ading into the cloister. The south-sgast quadrant of the cloistsr
has bezn excavated down ts the latest tile floor. The tila pavement, a
cortinuation of the buff and green diagonally laid tiles of the chapter
house, is almnst complete in this guadrant at least, though thers is an
area of missing tiles ©on the south, and on tha south-east the pavement has
bsen crudely patchzsd with stone slabs.

Within the pavemant against the chapter house, ie a gravs slab apparently
undisturbed, which has evidantly bsen inserted, as the tiles are roughly
patched on the east to fit it in. Further doorways from the cloister give
access tu the vaulited undercroft of the dorter on the south-east and the
frzter block on the scuth. All three doors have ornate stops.

On the inside of the pavement, a low wall with buttresses bridging over a
stone-=lined drain held the pallars for the pent roof, One of thess nillar
bases survives, in the section lire on the sauth. Interestingly, other
pieces of an earlier form cof pillar were reused a2s rubble in the care of the
wall and buttresses. The cloisters were evidently remadelled and this may
indeed dote to the mid 15th century remodelling which was apparently planned
and endowed.

To the south of the chancel, excavations have revealed the slight trazces of

a retaining wall running parallel to the south wall of thke chancel, then
turning Lo run south, parallel with tne sast wall of the south transept. This
has only been traced for a short distance but it may indicate the presence of
a pathway around the outside of the church, paossibly arcund a cemetery on its
south and sast.

Anart from disturbances associatec with the Oissolution period and later
pericds, evidencz of actusl post—medieval structures or use of the building
for anything othar than a stone guarry is rare. 0n the ncrth of thz site,
agninst the sast wall of the north trensept and north chancel wall; nestled
a small, badly built structure, the foundations of which rest on priory roof
collapse. The haarth in one corner and coal and slag fournd on the floor
cuggest a small-scale, louwly use, possibly as a smithy, probably in the 18th
century. The cellars of houses adjoining the nave on its north-uwast sicde,
probably 17th certury in daote, were also revealed by excavation.

The excavation of a deep rubbish pit on the north side of the north transept,
cutside tne church, suggssts that guantities of the natural clay were
redeposited at some stage during the life of the priory. This may have been
cut from the adjoining highsr ground to the west of the site and placed in
areas aon the perhaps marshy site to level up. Whether this redeposition was
carried out uniformly cver all the site or was cencentrated in cips in the
ground to level up smeller areas is as yat unkrown.

The features celonging tc the Dissolution are particularly interaesting on

this site and it is hoped thzat excavastionm may reveal detsils of the method

of dismantling a priory immediately after the Pissolution, The richness and
quantity of the decorated stonswork revealed below ground level and tne
quantities of surviving tile floors point promisingly to eventual understanding
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and presentation of the structural cocmpleteness of the priory plen; also

the probably waterlogged character of lower strata and the hopefully
undisturbed riverside point towards the site's potential in providing
details of environmental data, as well as furthering understanding of the
drainage of the site; the use of the wateifront, and possibly the waterworks
conrnected with the priory mill,

I am most grateful to Mr Peter Crane and Me Louise Lanz for mrodu01ng the
nlan.,

February 1985
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